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Parish boundary markers and
perambulations in London

A . D.  H A RV E Y

Parish boundary markers—and also boundary markers placed by, for example, manors,
railway companies, water concerns, prisons or county councils—are found all over
England but are probably better known as a phenomenon of the countryside than of
urban areas.1 Rural parish boundary markers are more widespread and represent an
otherwise exceptional intrusion by officialdom into woodlands and hedgerows; urban
parish boundary markers, representing just one more man-made element in a man-
made environment, are completely non-existent in many towns and seem to be
numerous only in London, Bristol and Norwich. However, their restricted location
enables urban parish boundary markers to be studied more exhaustively as historic
artefacts. In suburban London, where they are considerably more numerous than in
Bristol and Norwich and mostly of a later date, they are also a significant source for the
history of local government.

A key feature of the growth of London in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries was
the rapid increase of population in those parishes of Middlesex and Surrey in the
immediate vicinity of the City of London. Despite subsequent sub-division for
ecclesiastical purposes, these parishes became major administrative units, with large
staffs and budgets. By 1900, when they were elevated to the status of metropolitan
boroughs, the parish of St Mary’s Islington had over 330,000 inhabitants and St Pancras
235,000.2 Bristol’s population was slightly smaller than that of Islington, which was the
seventh largest municipality in Britain; Norwich had less than half the population of St
Pancras. Unlike Bristol or Norwich, however, parishes such as St Mary’s Islington and St
Pancras had no mayor or corporation. The officials they employed were responsible to
a parish vestry, consisting of vestrymen (who from 1855 onwards were elected at an
informal annual meeting) and headed either by the incumbent of the parish acting ex
officio or by a chairman chosen by a show of hands each time they assembled. The most
important civic ceremony available in such communities was in the perambulation of
the parish boundaries. In Bristol and Norwich, where local government was
transformed by the Municipal Corporations Act of 1835, such interest as there had
been in the boundaries of the medieval city parishes seems to have become almost
completely overshadowed by new preoccupations; in Norwich, of more than eighty
surviving parish boundary markers in the city, only two date from after 1835.3 The
parishes around the City of London were (like the City of London itself) not affected by
the Municipal Corporations Act, and they continued to place iron posts, stone plaques
or iron plates affixed to buildings to mark their boundaries during the following
decades. 

Today these markers are not the most striking manifestation of past bureaucracy in the
streets of the capital: in St Pancras, now part of the London Borough of Camden,
boundary markers are less numerous as well as less eye-catching than municipal
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bollards.4 There are also a number of St Pancras vestry manhole covers in the borough,
dating from the days when the vestry was responsible for electric street lighting: there is
an example at the junction of Maitland Park Road and Haverstock Hill, London NW3.
Manhole covers for the vestry of St Mary Islington are even more common, but other
parishes in nineteenth-century London either did not mark their manhole covers or
else contracted out the street lighting to commercial businesses. In Edwardes Square,
Kensington, there is a set of original lamp posts, now long since converted from gas to
electricity, marked KV for Kensington Vestry. The monogramming of lamp posts dates
from the very earliest lamp posts, examples of which, marked GIII R may still be seen
outside St James’s Palace. There are others almost as old in the Outer Circle, Regents
Park. The very first gas-light appliances, installed only a few years earlier, seem to have
been affixed to brackets screwed to the front of buildings. The lamp posts in Edwardes
Square, dating from 1835 are probably the oldest surviving set of municipal lamp posts
in the world; the lamp post in Kingstown Street, London NW1 marked STPPM evidently
dates from after 1841.5 Taking the metropolitan area as a whole, however, it is the
boundary markers—usually small and often decayed into illegibility—which constitute
the most evenly distributed category of municipal street furniture.

It is not known when the English first concerned themselves with communal
boundaries or (not necessarily the same thing) adopted communal practices to
preserve the memory of such boundaries. We may discount seventeenth-century
speculations that it derived from Roman practice and was ‘an imitation of the feast
called Verminalia, which was dedicated to the god Verminus, whom they consider as the
guardian of fields and landmarks, and the keeper of friendship and peace among
men’.6 It seems that Rogation Day processions became associated with checking parish
boundaries in the thirteenth century, and continued during the early days of the
Reformation, but were suppressed in the late 1540s.7 They were revived under Queen
Mary and put on a new official basis by an Injunction of 1559 which excepted the
annual check on boundaries from a general prohibition of religious and other
processions: ‘But yet for the reteyning of the perambulations of the Circuites of
parishes, thei shal once in the yere at the time accustomed, with the curate and the
substanciall men of the paryshe, walke about theyr parishes as they were accustomed’.8

This is the first official reference to parish perambulations, and though the practice was
referred to as ‘accustomed’ it is by no means certain that it had been a universal
practice all over the country, especially bearing in mind the sheer extent of many rural
parishes. That it was regarded as a well-established practice in southern England is
confirmed by the mainly London-based poet George Wither in 1635:

That, ev’ry man might keep his owne Possessions,
Our Fathers, us’d in reverent Processions
(With zealous prayers, and with praisefull cheere)
To walke their Parish-limits, once a yeare:
And, well knowne Markes (which sacrilegious Hands
Now cut or breake) so bord’red out their Lands,
That, ev’ry one distinctly knew his owne;
And, many brawles, now rife, were then unknowne.9

One notes, however, that he regards the tradition as one that his contemporaries
neglected. In verses ‘To Anthea’, written in the 1620s or 1630s, Robert Herrick referred
to the custom of marking certain points of the boundary with trees, known as Gospel
Trees, under which the officiating clergymen read aloud from the Bible when the
procession reached that point:
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Dearest, bury me
Under that Holy-oke, or Gospel-Tree;
Where (though thou see’st not) thou may think upon
Me, when thou yearly go’st Procession10

Such a tree, standing in what is now Southampton Road on the boundary between the
parishes of Hampstead and St Pancras, gave its name to the Gospel Oak district of north
London: a similar tree further south on the same boundary, at the foot of Haverstock
Hill, survived into the nineteenth century.11

Despite the attendance of the parish clergy, perambulations after 1600 increasingly took
on the character of a secular bean-feast. In the parish of Bermondsey the first
perambulation recorded was in 1601 and involved the expenditure of 3s 2d. Thereafter,
till the accounts lapse in 1622, perambulations were virtually annual, with the expense
increasing yearly till it reached £3 19s 7d in 1612. Thereafter it hovered around £1 16s a
year till 1622, when the bill was only 10s.12 The account for 1611 mentions the provision
of ‘bread and drink in the vestry for the children’ on the day of the perambulation, and
the attendance of children—or at least boys—was a particular feature at such events. It
was later supposed that the presence of children was required so that they would be
able to testify to the boundaries when, much later in life, they acquired the status of
elders in the community: in 1635 one Robert Fidler of Ormskirk in Lancashire claimed
that he was certain of the location of a boundary stone on Ormskirk Moor because
around 1600 he had his head knocked against it painfully to make him remember it.13

This practice of ‘bumping’ came to be regarded as traditional in some areas, as did
having boys or young men stand on their heads on the boundary to help them
memorise it—though this is only recorded later.14 In the seventeenth century it was also
customary to beat some of the attendant boys at appropriate points on the boundary.
The actual beating of the bounds—that is, the striking of boundary markers—was also
carried out by the boys, who were issued with wands, or even broom staffs, for the
purpose.15 The purchase of wands and temporary markers was one item of expenditure,
and the boys who were beaten were paid (at least in some places) but the main expense
was the cost of entertaining the adults. At Chelsea in 1670 ‘the boys who were whipt’
received 4s and ‘the Perambulation Dinner’ cost £3 10s.16 At Fulham in 1711 £4 3s 9d
was spent on ‘Bread Chees and Bear for the boys’, £2 3s on rods, £2 17s on ‘8 grosse of
Points and 550 wands’, and 16s on a lamb: but it is not evident what the lamb was for, as
the bill for dinner was £4 12s plus 12s for beer, tobacco and brandy, plus £1 10s for
refreshment at the Robin Hood public house and other places en route.17 During the
course of the eighteenth century the cost of refreshing the procession at public houses
en route seems to have become more of a feature. The vestry of St Pancras ordered in
July 1718 that no more than £5 was to be spent ‘for the Dinner and other Expenses at
the next perambulation’, and in rural Kent the vestry of West Malling attempted to fix a
limit of £1 for total expenditure in 1721.18 In many places the custom of perambulation
was simply discontinued, and the cost—and related rowdiness—may have been partly
the reason for this.

The oldest parish boundary maker in England is probably the Longstone, a Bronze Age
menhir on Shovel Down, Dartmoor, which is marked on one side DC, for Duchy of
Cornwall, and on the other side C, for the parish of Chagford: but these inscriptions
evidently date from the nineteenth century, more than two millennia subsequent to the
placing of the menhir.19 The placing of stones specifically for the purpose of marking
boundaries (though not necessarily parish boundaries) undoubtedly occurred in the
Middle Ages, and three stone markers of the 1550s survive in Hellesdon, Norwich,
about a mile from the city centre: these mark the city boundary.20 An inscribed (and now



painted) stone dated 1710, marking the boundary the parishes of St Peter Mancroft
and St Giles, is to be found built into the wall of the Coach and Horses public house,
Bethel Street, Norwich.21 In London there is a wall plaque in New Square, Lincoln’s Inn
marked

D
SC

1693

indicating the boundary of the parish of St Clement Danes, but this may be a later
recarving, and it is usually claimed that the oldest surviving parish boundary marker is a
stone in Carey Street, marked on one side with an anchor for St Clement Danes and on
another side SDW for St Dunstan in the West: it is certainly very worn but it is, or ought
to be, a rule in local historical studies that one should not attempt to date objects
simply by the extent of their decay.22 This stone may not in fact be as old as the one on
the boundary of the parish of Hornsey, which is not in its original position,23 marked 

HP
1738

There are also two markers dating from 1741 on the Islington parish boundary, on
Dartmouth Park Hill and Crouch Hill. Nevertheless specially-made permanent markers
still seem to have been a rarity at this period: in most cases the boundary was identified
by field margins, trees, roads, ditches and other features that had some other function,
purpose or significance beyond the mere indication of parish territory. At the
perambulation at Weston in Norfolk in 1780 five shillings was paid by the squire
(possibly out of his own pocket) to a man ‘who carried a Hook and marked the Trees’
and a like amount to a man ‘who carried a Spade’ because, ‘Where there were no Trees
to mark, Holes were made and Stones cast in’.24 The two marker stones on the Islington
boundary dating from 1741 were probably the only formal permanent markers on a
boundary otherwise identified by topographical features: the stone of Dartmouth Park
Hill was on the Islington / St Pancras boundary and is depicted in an illustrated check
list of St Pancras boundary markers drawn up in 1866, but it is the only one noted in a
length of common boundary requiring twenty St Pancras markers, and there is no
reason to suppose that there had been other stones on this stretch of boundary that
had disappeared between 1741 and 1866. On the other hand, the minutes of the vestry
of St Mary’s Islington for 1 April 1834 record that at the perambulation in 1833 ‘The
Boundary stones were found to be in a very dilapidated state and at many important
angles the marks were either obliterated or the stones altogether destroyed ...  all the
old stones have been recut and the original dates restored’, which suggests many more
than two stones.25

It is not actually clear why so much attention was given to these boundaries. The great
Elizabethan Poor Law legislation of 1597 and 1601, by making the parish responsible
for assistance to the poor belonging to the parish, might well be supposed to have
conferred a new importance on boundaries because paupers whose normal residence,
perhaps even place of birth, lay outside the parish were not the parish’s responsibility,
and equally, those living beyond the parish boundary were not liable to pay rates for the
upkeep either of the church or the poor. Examination of urban parishes however
suggests that the question of rates and poor relief was not the principal reason for the
increased attention given to parish boundaries in the seventeenth and eighteenth
centuries. 

The parishes in the metropolitan area outside the City of London were originally rural
and only later became urbanised and part of a vast conurbation. At a much earlier stage
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however parishes had formed within the walls of the medieval City of London and other
towns by a process of sub-division.26 Just as the number, location, and separation of
parishes generally had never been formally organised or authorised, so the formation
of parishes, often very small, in city centres was not something systematically planned or
managed. The fact that there were over one hundred parishes within the City of
London and 36 in Norwich, no doubt reflected the relative wealth and importance of
these cities, but it is not clear why Bristol should have 21 parishes and Exeter, always a
smaller city, 25, or why Nottingham should have only three parishes but Stamford five.
The image of a medieval city dominated by the soaring tower of the cathedral, with the
steeples of the parish churches clustering around it like piglets round a sow, is indeed
justified by the importance of medieval cities as ecclesiastical centres and by the
tendency of larger ecclesiastical institutions to attract smaller ones: but Colchester and
Ipswich, with no cathedral, had twelve and thirteen parishes respectively, as compared
with twelve in Gloucester and fourteen in Worcester, but only four in Salisbury.27 Except
in the City of London, where the Great Fire of 1666 provided the opportunity to reduce
the number of parishes, these urban parishes survived into the nineteenth century, but
most of the sixteen towns and cities with ten or more medieval parishes have no
surviving boundary markers. Colchester has one, a stone marking the boundary
between the parishes of St Giles and Holy Trinity in St John’s Street, dating from 1849.28

In Oxford there are a dozen or so city boundary markers dating from the nineteenth
century in the outskirts of the city but only one inscription that is definitely a
nineteenth-century parish boundary marker, a stone inscribed CSJD 1858 (Cowley St
John District) on the wall behind a lamp post at 78 St. Clements Street. Somewhat
oddly—or perhaps characteristically, this being Oxford—there are six twentieth-century
parish boundary markers, one of them (actually a cross on the floor and an inscribed
stone protected by glass on the wall) inside Marks and Spencer’s in Queen Street dating
from 1952, though moved from its original position in 1976, and another a brass plate
at 9 Cornmarket dating from 1985, indicating the junction of the boundaries of three
parishes (St Martin, All Saints and St Michael at the Northgate) none of which was
actually functioning as a separate parish by 1985.29 In Norwich on the other hand there
are more than eighty surviving parish boundary markers, including eight from the
eighteenth century, and such markers are also numerous in Bristol, which has the
earliest known metal markers, iron plates attached to walls and dating from 1747.30

1.  Drawing (out of scale
and with misspelling) of
St Pancras and
Clerkenwell boundary
markers on the back wall
of Middlesex House of
Correction, Cold Bath
Fields (1866). The site is
now occupied by Mount
Pleasant Sorting Office.
This part of the
boundary (now between
the London Boroughs of
Islington and Camden)
is no longer marked
(Camden Local History
Library)



Urban parishes often accumulated considerable bequests that enabled them to
maintain almshouses and charity schools, to pay premiums for the apprenticing of
children from poor families and to provide periodic gifts of clothing or dinners for the
poor; and because such endowments accumulated over the years it obviously became a
matter of concern to establish who was or was not entitled to parish charity. One notes,
too, that richer parishes with fewer paupers had considerably lower poor rates than
poorer parishes. Yet it can hardly be the case that parish activity in erecting boundary
markers related to parish activity in relieving the poor. In Bristol, from the 1690s
onwards, poor relief was managed not by the individual parishes but by a Corporation
of the Poor established by a private Act of Parliament. In Colchester a town poorhouse
had been established as early as 1565, and Bristol’s example was later followed and a
private Act of Parliament established a Corporation of the Poor, but several parishes
were still operating their own poorhouses in the late eighteenth and early nineteenth
centuries. Yet in Colchester there is only one surviving parish boundary marker (dating
from after the Act of Parliament which ended the parish’s role as the basic unit of poor
relief management) while in Bristol there are more than eighty pre-Poor Law
Amendment Act markers.31

There seems to be no record anywhere of any parish dignitary in any parish, rural or
urban, stating specifically why it was necessary or desirable to ascertain and mark parish
boundaries, and the implication is that it was more a matter of community identity than
of administrative utility. The Norwich Directory, or Gentlemen and Tradesmen’s Assistant for
1783 drew attention to ‘The vague and general name of the parish being the only
direction to persons of every denomination’, because of the lack of signs giving street
names, noting too that ‘To remedy this, in some degree, the names of the streets have
been put up in a few of the parishes’. In other words, the parishes and their general
topographical extent were familiar as a concept to the inhabitants of Norwich, and
there were detectable differences in the administration of the parishes. But the
directory, while giving an account of the aldermen of the city, the common council,
guardians of the poor, and corporation committees, says nothing about parishes as
administrative units, or their boundaries.32 Similarly The Bristol Index, or Evan’s Directory
for 1818 does not mention parishes as such except to list their clergy, and, in the
alphabetical index of professions, their parish clerks and sextons. Matthew’s Annual
Bristol Directory and Commercial List for 1825 gives the times of church services as well as
the names of the clergy, but says nothing at all about the parishes or their clerks.33

The importance of community identity—orchestrated by certain more active individuals
within each community—is suggested by the chronology of parish boundary markers
and perambulations, and by marked differences in this regard between neighbouring
districts. Norwich is remarkable not merely for its unusually large number of boundary
markers fixed by city-centre parishes but also for the fact that one-third of the city-
centre parishes have left no markers at all. Again, while there are plenty of instances
elsewhere of boundary markers from one parish being placed directly alongside
markers from another parish, only Norwich and Bristol have examples of the second
parish placing a new marker above one of its own markers even though the existing
marker, only a couple of decades older, must have been perfectly legible. In at least one
instance the parish next door followed suit within a couple of years.34 Of more than
eighty parish markers in central Norwich, all but eight date from 1790-1834, suggesting
that the Municipal Corporations Act of 1835 (5 & 6 Wm.IV c.76), which established
open elections to the city corporation, put an end to what might be called a renaissance
of community consciousness, altering preoccupations and priorities much more,
perhaps, than it did the day-to-day administration of the city. In London 1790-1834
coincides with a significant increase in the amount of municipal street furniture in St
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Pancras though, as in other parishes in the metropolitan area, there was probably more
investment in street bollards than boundary markers.35 Neither the Highways Act of
1835 (5&6 Wm.IV c.50) nor the Metropolis Management Act of 1855 (18 & 19 Vict.
c.120) added significantly to the functions already exercised by most of the larger
London suburban parishes, but as their populations grew (that of St Pancras, already
over 100,000 in 1831, almost doubled by 1861) income from rates, numbers of staff and
expenditure grew too. By the mid-1850s St Pancras was beginning to outstrip
neighbouring parishes in the number of bollards it erected, whereas the neighbouring
parish of Hampstead seems to have given up on street furniture altogether: I know of
no Hampstead bollards or boundary markers dated later than 1859. On the other hand
Hampstead invested in a particularly showy Town Hall on Haverstock Hill, whereas the
considerably more populous parish of St Pancras continued with a cramped vestry hall
in Pancras Road, despite ‘suggestions … made at various times for the removal of the
Vestry Hall to a more convenient and central part of the parish [and] valid reasons for
the erection of a Town Hall worthy of the great Parish of St Pancras’.36 St Pancras was
also in one respect behind the parish of Kensington, which seems to have been the first
local authority to think of placing a municipal monogram on its lamp posts.37

When at the very end of the nineteenth century, the parishes outside the City of
London became metropolitan boroughs (or parts of boroughs) the Metropolitan
Borough of Stoke Newington, from first to last a rather modest-spending body,
embarked on an unusually comprehensive programme of placing shield-shaped cast-
iron plates on its boundaries, and at the same time removed all but two of the boundary
markers placed during the later nineteenth century by the parish of Hornsey, the
southern part of the territory which had been incorporated into the new borough. All
that survives of the administrative activity of the former Local Board of South Hornsey
apart from two boundary markers in Clissold Park are three drain hole inspection
hatches marked SHLB.38 The new Metropolitan Borough of Paddington also placed
borough boundary markers, but most other boroughs did not bother. Instead the new
Metropolitan Borough of Westminster invested in obtaining a charter entitling it to be

2.  Drawing (out of scale) of St Pancras boundary marker (1854) in York
Road (now York Way): the marker, gatepost and railway warehouses
beyond are all gone (Camden Local History Library)



styled the City of Westminster, and the Metropolitan Borough of Kensington applied to
Buckingham Palace for permission to call itself The Royal Borough of Kensington,
whereas the Metropolitan Borough of Battersea did not even apply to the College of
Arms for a coat of arms until 1955.39 Clearly different groups of community leaders—or
different teams of municipal officials—had different notions of what was important.

The ‘community jamboree’ aspect of parish boundaries is evident from a study of
perambulations in the nineteenth century. Following some decades in which they were
of rare occurrence they seem to have become more frequent, at least in parishes
neighbouring London. In 1787 a correspondent of The Gentlemen’s Magazine remarked
that ‘In some parishes thirty, or even fifty, years elapse without the bounds and limits of
the parish being ascertained; and frequently it happens, in cases of law-suits, that the
jury are obliged to depend on the memory of some old men’, but by the 1800s
perambulations were taking place every seven years in Fulham, and in St Pancras in the
1820s they were every three years.40 Furthermore, the processions became more
organised. In Bermondsey in 1792 the procession began with two pioneers (workmen
to clear undergrowth around markers, or refix them if loose) and continued with a
bellman, constable, colours (some sort of banner), stewards, boys and master of the
workhouse, followed by (among others) free school children (pupils at the parish-
funded school) and their usher, the charity girls and boys and their mistress and master,
parishioners’ children, musicians, two beadles, two Anglican clergymen and two
churchwardens, sidesmen, governors and directors (officials administering the Poor
Law) and parishioners at large, as well as various other stewards, constables and colours.
In 1819 the music was specified as consisting of a drum and fife band, and the vestry
clerk, not mentioned in the 1792 account, was also in attendance.41

The cost of perambulations began once more to increase: in St Pancras the bill was £74
in 1821 and £78 in 1824, but in 1874 it was £245 19s 7d, including £74 0s 6d for
‘dinners and refreshments’.42 By 1862 the perambulation of the bounds of St Mary
Newington in Southwark was being announced in advance by a printed circular, which
came accompanied by an admission ticket for the dinner to be held at the end of the
perambulation. On the day itself a printed programme was available: the boys from the
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3.  Admittance ticket for the Bermondsey boundary perambulation 1868
(Southwark Local History Library)
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community schools were limited to ten from each school, and ‘The Ministers of the
Chapels’ (the nonconformist clergy) appeared in procession, following ‘The Ministers
of the Churches’ but before ‘The Parish Churchwardens and their Sidesmen’ and ‘The
Churchwardens of the District Churches’. In Bermondsey in 1868 admittance tickets
were issued for the churchyard where the procession was to form up, suggesting either
an attempt to exclude freeloaders from other parishes and local riff-raff, or else
previous experience of problems with crowd control.43 (In Shrewsbury perambulations
had been discontinued in the late 1850s because of fights breaking out between the
processions of neighbouring town-centre parishes, the ‘rough’ population of the town
having joined the processions because of the prospect of ‘refreshments’).44 Proceedings
were reported in detail and with some jocularity in local newspapers:

A halt was made here and there to beat a stone, and several rigid examinations
of public houses along the line of route and the line of the boundary, of course,
were made by the now thirsty voyagers, and these inspections became more and
more frequent as the sun reached its meridian … At one place a garden wall
was scaled, much to the anger of an old lady proprietress and her kitchen maid,
who threatened the marauders with police and other terrors of the law, and
made a stout defence of the property till overpowered by numbers.45

This account, from the Islington Gazette in 1868, also indicates that part of the
perambulations that ran uphill along a main road was carried out in omnibuses and
open carriages, led by the band ‘snugly packed in a wagonette, banging and blowing to
the limit of their hearts’ desires’, and that ‘the old custom of “bumping”’ was only
resorted to, but then with hilarious and oft-repeated enthusiasm, quite late in the day,
by which time, evidently, most of the procession had consumed considerable amounts
of whatever it was they had found in the public houses. It would not necessarily be true
to say that great fun was had by all: in 1829 a man angling in the River Lea was set upon
by Walthamstow parishioners during their perambulation, perhaps to secure an
independent witness, and ‘bumped’ against his will. He was awarded £50 damaged
when he took the parishioners to court.46

4. (left) Stoke Newington parish boundary market 1876 (Clissold Park,
N16); 5. (right)  St Mary’s Islington parish boundary marker 1868, with
side view of diminutive Hornsey boundary marker next to it (15 Mount
View Road, N4) (both A.D. Harvey)



PARISH BOUNDARY MARKERS AND PERAMBULATIONS IN LONDON 189

It also became usual for parish officials to check the boundaries beforehand, and to
draw up a list of markers to be inspected.47 The list prepared for the 1866
perambulation in St Pancras took the form of a booklet illustrated with pen and ink
drawings of each marker, shown out of scale, and the building on which, or field in
which, each marker was situated.48 In 1886 a ‘List of Stones and Marks’ representing the
parish boundaries of St Mary Battersea was ‘printed by order of the Board of
Churchwardens & Overseers’ and presumably distributed at the perambulation held in
that year, though St Mary Battersea, like many south London parishes, was not an
independent municipality but under the administrative authority of the Board of Works
for the Wandsworth District.49 It is possible that the printing of the list was related to a
campaign to establish the parish as an independent municipality, for such movements
occurred in other parts of the metropolitan area in this period.50 In the eighteenth and
early nineteenth centuries perambulations had often met up with delegations of
parishioners from the other parishes, or even the entire perambulation procession of
the next-door parish, to settle uncertainties about the boundaries, and old men were
generally on hand to advise on where the boundary had been in their youth: thus at St
Cuthbert’s, Wells, Somerset in 1752, ‘William Lovell aged 83 years who went the
Perambulation about 60 years ago was examined Says that towards this corner the
Warren has been Enlarged’.51 As late as 1833 the perambulation of the boundary of the
parish of Mitcham in Surrey included eight individuals specified as ‘Aged Men’.52 The
preparation of checklists by parish officials before the perambulation—and also the
placing of markers independent of perambulations—suggests however that by the mid-
nineteenth century the establishment of the boundary as such was no longer a major
reason for holding the perambulations. In Tavistock Place London WC1, in front of 36-
70 Seymour House, there is a stone set into the kerb inscribed ‘SPL / 1898 SGB’ (SPL
standing for ‘St Pancras London’ and SGB for ‘St George Bloomsbury’) and round the
corner in Handel Street is a section of the actual kerb stone inscribed ‘SPL / 1899 SGB’
and another ‘SGB 18 / 99 SPL’. These replace stones (in one instance a pair marked
STP.P. 1825, 118 and STG.B. 1841) which were taken up when the street was
redeveloped in the late 1890s,53 and were evidently placed at the time of the relaying of
the pavement. In October 1821, some months later in the year than the usual time of
perambulation, a churchwarden and a sidesman from Streatham together with the
parish constable and the vestry clerk, met up with a churchwarden, two overseers, the
parish surveyor and the vestry clerk from Tooting to decide the boundary between the
two parishes and agreed to set up five makers at the joint expense of the parishes.54

There is insufficient surviving evidence to determine when such meetings first
occurred, and whether they became more common in the nineteenth century, though
with the growth of administrative budgets the probability is that they did.

By now many, if not most, of the
boundaries between metropolitan
parishes outside the City of
London were clearly marked by
stones (sometimes set into the
street kerb), iron posts, or iron

6.  St Pancras and St George
Bloomsbury boundary marker
on kerbstone 1898 (A.D.
Harvey) 



plates screwed to the frontage of buildings. In 1791 St Pancras placed a number of oval
iron plates marked 

S
P+P
1791

Examples survive at 69-71 Marchmont Street and 58 and 59 Goodge Street. Miniature
bollards marked ‘1821’ were erected thirty years later: examples can be found in the
flower beds at Woburn Square and on Primrose Hill. As late as 1853, St Olave’s
Southwark was ordering, in addition to half a dozen ‘New Iron Cast Boundary marks’,
38 ‘Wood boards for the Boundary marks’, though by this period the use of wooden
markers was exceptional.55 Some at least of St Olave’s ‘New Iron Cast Boundary marks’
were intended for commercial premises through which the boundary ran: a paving
stone on the floor of a counting house on a riverside wharf in Southwark had an
inserted chevron-shaped metal plate marked: 

No.4 St Olave Parish 1853

and though it is unclear how widespread this practice was, some of the metal plates
fixed in St Pancras in 1791 were also inside business premises.56 From the late
eighteenth century the initials of the churchwardens appeared on the boundary posts
in some parishes; elsewhere, as in St Pancras from 1821 onwards, markers were given a
serial number.57 A number of marker designs survive only in unique examples, such as
(at the corner of Downs Park Road and Cecilia Road, E8) a box-shaped cast-iron object
with attached plates on the side embossed with 

HP
1825
WHH

&
[?] F.C.
CHW

i.e. Hackney Parish 1825, WHH and [?] F.C. Churchwardens, and something like a
short length of H-section girder, with the sides of the H coming together to make a
smooth rounded head, is to be found near the double gate of Clissold Park on Stoke
Newington Church Street, London N16, back to back with a very similar parish of
Hornsey marker of 1887, embossed with

1876
SN

W.Eve
G.Motion

Churchwardens

At 133 Upper Street, London N1, there is a slightly more massive example of the same
design, embossed HH 1816 and evidently a marker of a long-since vanished private
estate.58 The techniques of casting iron suggest that these are sole survivals of what
might once have been quite numerous batches. 

In many instances the markers of adjacent parishes would be fixed next to one another.
As late as 1887 the parish of Hornsey was erecting its small and elegant H-section cast-
iron markers right up against Islington’s much taller and uglier square-section iron
marker pillars. Though the oldest surviving urban parish boundary marker in the
country, that in Norwich dated 1710, was erected by two adjacent parishes working in
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collaboration, and there used to be joint St Pancras and St Giles in the Fields stones of
1787 in Chenies Mews, London WC1, co-operative action of this sort seems to have
become common in London only after the 1860s. An interesting example is on a
terrace of working-men’s cottages in Harrow Road, London NW10, dating from 1861: at
no. 689 there is a stone for the parishes of Kensington and Hammersmith inscribed

K.P | H.P.
1865 | 1865

and at no. 693 a stone evidently produced by a quite different workman is inscribed (for
Hammersmith and Willesden)

H.P. W.P.
1865

Despite the programme of the Metropolitan Borough of Stoke Newington for
eradicating Hornsey markers and setting up its own, markers and perambulations seem
to have gone out of fashion by the 1900s. The expense and rowdiness of processions was
no doubt a factor, but it was perhaps less a question of the growth of respectability than
of the growth of municipal staffs and their increasing involvement in civic life. The
expenses of a boundary perambulation of Wandsworth parish in 1898, which had a
numerous attendance, came to only £12 16s 8d, including just £5 2s 8d for
refreshments, most of the remainder being accounted for by a payment of two guineas
each to the vestry clerk and the parish surveyor ‘for damage to clothing’: evidently they
had muddied themselves and torn their jackets fighting their way up to inaccessible
markers. It is, however, slightly suspicious that the only two individuals compensated for
damage to clothing were the two officials responsible for drawing up the accounts.59
What had once been a community celebration was now becoming just another local
government junket. In recent years a number of parishes up and down the country
have organised perambulations but as a phenomenon of secular urban community life
they seem to have been killed off by modern municipal government. While researching
this paper I observed that a kerbstone in front of 67 Marchmont Street, London WC1
which had been inscribed as a parish boundary marker had been carefully defaced by
London Borough of Camden contractors.60
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